0/A1-8-87

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JESSIE WILLIAMS, III,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 68,505

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GLENNA JOYCE REEVES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DEPARTING FROM THE RECOMMENDED GUIDELINE SENTENCE BECAUSE THE REASONS GIVEN WERE NEITHER CLEAR NOR CONVINCING.

The trial judge's sentencing order is clearly inadequate to support the departure since its overall import is merely a disagreement with the guidelines range. A departure for that primary reason, with others annexed largely as makeweights and rationalizations, contradicts the entire purpose and philosophy of the guidelines.

Mere disagreement with the guidelines is an invalid basis for a guideline departure. State v. Bellanger, 304 N.W.2d 282 (Minn. 1981) clearly repudiates this practice. Reducing an aggravated sentence to a guideline sentence, the Court said:

Here, the trial court expressed the view that there is a great deal too much made of "regularity and conformity in sentencing" and his belief that the presumptive sentence of 30 months in prison adopted by the Sentencing Guidelines for one who commits a simple robbery and has a criminal history score of 3 is too lenient. For that primary reason, the court departed from the presumptive sentence and imposed a 48-month prison term. General disagreement with the Guidelines or the legislative policy on which the Guidelines are based does not justify departure.

Paragraph 4 of the sentencing order expresses this sentiment by stating that "to impose the suggested sentence under sentencing guidelines would make a mockery of this court's sentencing goal."

[Emphasis added]. <u>Id</u>. at 283. Similar sentiments were expressed by Judge Sharp in her dissenting opinion in <u>Hendrix</u> v. State, 455 So.2d 449, 451 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984):

The trial judge in this case thought the presumptive sentence was too light punishment for this crime and this defendant with his prior record. I agree. However, the degree of punishment afforded by the guidelines, or lack thereof, should not be grounds for enhancement. The basic problem is the generally light punishments programmed as presumptively correct in the guidelines. The legislature can remedy this problem. However, if in the meantime the courts render the guidelines meaningless by allowing departures in violation the quidelines rules and mandates, there will be nothing left to remedy. in Sentencing quidelines Florida become an interesting but failed social experiment.

This Court has held likewise:

It is also improper to depart based on the trial court's perception that the recommended sentence under the guidelines is not commensurate with the seriousness of the crime. The raison d'etre of the sentencing guidelines is to develop punishment commensurate with the seriousness of the crime. The different categories of crimes, the various scoring opportunities, and the disparate punishment ranges

The paramount goal of the guidelines is to reduce unwarranted disparity in sentencing. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701. the Guidelines are designed to insure that similarly situated offenders convicted of similar sentences. See Sundberg, Braziel, Florida's Plante, Initial Experience with Sentencing Guidelines, 11 Fla. St. U.L. Rev. 125 (1983). Similarly situated offenders would not be assured of equal treatment if each trial judge is allowed to sentence an offender based nogu his her ideas orphilosophy or regarding punishment.

are clearly bottomed on this objective. The guidelines were enacted "to establish a uniform set of standards to guide the sentencing judge" and "eliminate unwarranted variation in the sentencing process by reducing the subjectivity in interpreting specific offense-and offenderrelated criteria and in defining their relative importance in the sentencing decision." In re Rules of Criminal Procedure (Sentencing Guidelines), 439 So.2d 848, 849 (Fla. 1983). <u>Accord Santiago</u> v. State, 478 So.2d 47, 48 (Fla. 1985); Hendrix, 475 So.2d at 1219-20. A trial judge may not substitute his own opinion of for that the Sentencing Guidelines Commission simply because he does not agree with the presumptive sentence. Cf. Allen v. State, 476 So.2d 309, 310 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) (trial judge may not depart simply because he thinks a harsher sentence will deter others). To permit every trial judge to determine his or her own sentence would result in the total elimination of the sentencing guidelines.

Williams v. State, 11 F.L.W. 289, 290 (Fla. June 26, 1986). See also, Scurry v. State, 489 So.2d 25 (Fla. 1986) ("Reason ten, that a lesser sentence is not commensurate with the seriousness of the crime, flies in the face of the rationale of the guidelines. In effect this reason reflects a trial judge's disagreement with the Sentencing Guidelines Commission and is not a sufficient reason for departure." Id. at 29).

Petitioner's criminal record is not a valid basis for departure. Petitioner received a total of 23 points based upon his prior record (R 29). As this Court recognized in Hendrix v. State, 475 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 1985), it would be incongruous to allow his past record to be utilized again to support a departure. As the court noted:

To allow the trial judge to depart from the guidelines based upon a factor which has already been weighed in arriving at a presumptive sentence would in effect be counting the convictions twice which is contrary to the spirit and intent of the guidelines. Accord, State v. Brusven, 327 N.W.2d 591 (Minn. 1982); State v. Erickson, 313 N.W.2d 16 (Minn. 1981); State v. Barnes, 313 N.W.2d 1 (Minn. 1981). We agree with the First District Court of Appeal in that "[w]e find a lack of logic in considering a factor to be an aggravation allowing departure from the guidelines when the same factor is included in the guidelines for purposes of furthering the goal of uniformity." Burch v. State, 462 So.2d 548, 549 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

Id. at 1220.

The First District's approval of the departure here by describing the judge's "narrative of this defendant's frequent contacts with the criminal justice system as something substantially more than a mere reference to the defendant's prior criminal record" is a blatant attempt to circumvent this Court's rule in Hendrix. Semantics aside, the stated reasons [with the arguable exception of portions of reason

1, see <u>Weems v. State</u>, 469 So.2d 120 (Fla. 1985)], undoubtedly refer to petitioner's prior record, reasons clearly prohibited by <u>Hendrix</u>. The Minnesota court, in interpreting its sentencing guidelines, has clearly thwarted such circumvention. In <u>State_v. Magnan</u>, 328 N.W.2d 147 (Minn. 1983), the trial

Testimony of this character [prior convictions] after a long lapse of years should not have been introduced ... In other words, the law will not permit the early indiscretions of a witness to be brought into requisition to besmirch his subsequent life. To do so, as expressed by Judge Greenlief, ... would be to preclude any possible chance of a reform, and would enable state's counsel to parade the early misdeeds of a subsequently useful life, to be introduced to becloud and discredit the subsequently honorable and useful life.

Id. at 613. It would indeed be an anomaly to allow a remote conviction - deemed too irrelevant to be scored - to then serve as the sole basis for a sentencing guidelines departure. See, Weems v. State, 469 So.2d 128, 130-131 (Fla. 1985) (Boyd, J. dissenting) and Johnson v. State, 483 So.2d 855, 857 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986) (Cowart, J. dissenting).

Petitioner urges that the Court reconsider its Weems decision. Petitioner maintains that the prohibition against the use of ancient juvenile adjudications in scoring was based upon a policy decision that such ancient adjudications were simply not relevant to the sentencing decision. [The Florida Sentencing Guidelines manual reflects that the prohibition was so based: "The provision allowing a prior record to decay with the passage of time is similar to rule 609(b), Federal Rules of Evidence." Of course, rule 609(b), disallows impeachment by means of remote convictions.] The notion that remote convictions lack relevancy is not one foreign to Florida Courts. E.g., <u>Braswell v. State</u>, 306 So.2d 609 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975), <u>cert. denied</u>, 328 So.2d 845 (Fla. 1976); <u>Kelly v. State</u>, 311 So.2d 124 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975). In <u>Braswell</u>, the court recognized that a remote conviction cannot be utilized to impeach a criminal defendant testifying in his own behalf. The court's rationale was based upon Winn v. State, 54 Tex.Cr. 538, 113 S.W. 918 (1908), where the court noted:

judge had relied upon the facts concerning the defendant's criminal history and his dangerousness to the public in departing from the guidelines. In reversing that departure, the Minnesota Supreme Court noted:

Generally the sentencing court cannot rely on a defendant's criminal history as a ground for departure. The Sentencing Guidelines take one's history into account in determining whether or not one has a criminal history score and, if so, what should be. Here defendant's score criminal history was already taken into account in determining his criminal history score and there is no justification for concluding that a qualitative analysis of the history justifies using it as a ground for departure. State v. Erickson, 313 N.W.2d 16 (Minn. 1981); State v. Barnes, 313 N.W.2d 1 (Minn. 1981). Similarly, the court's belief that defendant is so dangerous that an extended period of incarceration is warranted is not ground for the departure. State v. Hagen, N.W.2d 701 (Minn. 1982).

[Emphasis supplied]. Id. at 150. The court thus recognized that just as a quantitative analysis of a criminal record cannot be a basis for departure, use of a qualitative analysis of the same [i.e., its "length," see State v. Gross, 332 N.W.2d 167 (Minn. 1983); its "character," see Williams v. State, supra ("violent" pattern); its "form," see Scurry v. State, supra (twice before on probation) etc.] is equally verboten.

Every criminal history or record has a qualitative aspect to it. See Hankey v. State, 485 So.2d 827 (Fla. 1986) ("If we were to allow this circumstance to justify departure we would be forced to uphold departure in nearly all theft and burglary result in economic hardship on the victim. Such a result was obviously not intended when the guidelines were conceived."

In short, the examination and description of the extent or form or content or pattern of a criminal record amounts to no more than use of the criminal record, and is therefore forbidden. Hendrix v. State, supra. Since prior record cannot be a proper basis for departure, reversal of petitioner's sentence is mandated, even assuming, arguendo, that petitioner's juvenile record could be a basis for departure. See State v. Mischler, 488 So.2d 523 (Fla. 1986); Albritton v. State, 476 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1985).

V CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, petitioner's departure sentence must be reversed.

Respectfully submitted,

MICHAEL E. ALLEN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GLENNA JOYCE REEVES

Assistant Public Defender

Post Office Box 671

Tallahassee, Florida 32302

(904) 488-2458

Attorney for Appellant