OA 1- 8.87

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JESSIE WILLIAMS, III,

PETITIONER,

-VS-

CASE NO. 68,505

STATE OF FLORIDA,

**RESPONDENT**.

### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

HENRI C. CAWTHON ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

# TOPICAL

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Jessie Williams, III, was the criminal defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the First District Court of Appeal. Respondent, the State of Florida, was the prosecuting authority at trial and the appellee.

The record on appeal containing the legal documents filed in this cause and the transcript of testimony and proceedings at the hearings will be designated "(R)."

All emphasis is supplied by Respondent.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts Petitioner's statement of the case and facts as being supported by the record. Additional facts deemed relevant and necessary to the proper disposition of the issue raised will be included in the argument portion of Respondent's brief.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court's reasons for departure were clear and convincing because they were supported by factors not calculated into the presumptive guidelines sentence, to-wit: Petitioner's juvenile record and the short period of time between the completion of rehabilitation efforts and the recurring offenses. Petitioner's argument that the trial court cannot base a departure upon its disagreement with the guidelines is inapplicable here in that the trial court enunciated his "disagreement" with the recommended sentence in the particular case before it, not with the guidelines in general.

#### ISSUE

THE TRIAL COURT STATED CLEAR AND CONVINCING REASONS FOR DEPARTING FROM THE RECOMMENDED GUIDELINES SENTENCE.

Petitioner argues that the stated reasons for departure were improper because they revealed 'a disagreement with the guidelines range" (See Pet. Brief, p. 6) and were based upon Petitioner's prior record. **Hendrix v. State**, 475 So.2d 1218 (Fla.1985). Respondent disagrees.

It is conceded that the stated reasons for departure indicate the trial judge's disagreement with the sentencing guidelines "suggested sentence" <u>in the instant case</u> (R 22-23). However, nothing in the statement can be interpreted as a general opposition to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701. Of course, a departure is <u>always</u> based upon the trial court's "disagreement" with the presumptive sentence. For Petitioner to argue that a sentencing court cannot disagree with the recommended sentence is to argue against any and all departures!

Here, the trial judge stated specifically why the "suggested sentence" in the case at bar was inappropriate and required departure. To be valid, reasons for departure must be factually "proven beyond a reasonable doubt" **State v. Mischler**, 488 So.2d 523 (Fla.1986), and must be legally "clear and convincing," Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701(b)(6), which means as a threshold matter that they may not be "based upon a factor which has

-4-

already been weighed in arriving at [the] presumptive sentence." Hendrix, supra. The District Court of Appeal, First District, correctly applied these general principles in affirming the departure.

Since the Court's decision in Hendrix, the appellate courts of this State have held that because the <u>timing</u> of a defendant's prior offenses is not factored into the scoresheet, it is a valid reason for departure. Torrey v. State, 482 So.2d 552 (Fla.2d DCA 1986); White v. State, 481 So.2d 993 (Fla.5th DCA 1986); Rodrigue v. State, 481 So.2d 24 (Fla.5th DCA 1985). Moreover, habitual felony offender status, one of the requirements of which is the commission of a prior felony within five years of the instant offense, has been found to be a valid reason for departure. Payne v. State, 480 So.2d 202 (Fla.1st DCA 1985); Whitehead v. State, 467 So.2d 779 (Fla.1st DCA 1985), pending, No. 67,053; §775.084, Fla.Stat. (See also the opinion below citing to post-Hendrix decisions. Williams v. State, 484 So.2d 71 (Fla.1st DCA 1986)).

This was not a case in which the judge based the departure solely upon the number of prior convictions or upon a general reference to criminal history. Here, the trial court adequately distinguished Petitioner's record by referring to the timing of his offenses "relative to prior offenses and releases from incarceration or supervision." 484 at 72-73.

The stated purpose of the sentencing guidelines includes: 2. The primary purpose of sentencing is to punish the offender.

-5-

4. The severity of the sanction should increase with the length and nature of the offender's criminal history.

7. Because the capacities of state and local correctional facilities are finite, use of incarcerative sanctions should be limited to those persons . . . who have longer criminal histories.

Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701. Committee Note (b)(11) authorizes departure based on factors which are consistent with the statement of purpose. Of course, in a non-departure sentence, the guidelines scoresheet is the instrument of choice. However, when the trial judge exercises his discretion to depart from the presumptive range, the scoresheet is not the sentencing instrument, but becomes merely a tool by which he can measure the extent of his departure. This does not result in double imposition of penalty or aggravation of a sentence.

Under Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701(d)(5), and the Committee Note thereto, each prior felony and misdemeanor conviction in an offender's prior record shall be scored. This rule, when read in conjunction with (d)(11), provides that an offender cannot be punished due to offenses which do not result in conviction. But the language of (d)(11) does not expressly prohibit consideration of offenses for which the defendant <u>has</u> been convicted. Moreover, those who have longer criminal histories are to be accorded incarcerative sanctions. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701(b)(7). There is no limitation in the guidelines as to how those incarcerative sanctions are to be imposed.

To accept Petitioner's argument that the guidelines already take prior convictions into account on the scoresheet

-6-

and that the consequences of such a departure would be an improper double consideration "would be to remove the trial judge's right to exercise his discretion for clear and convincing reasons . . . our system of criminal justice, is in part predicated on enhanced punishment for incorrigibles. If this be true, it cannot help but be a clear and convincing reason for aggravation, notwithstanding built-in provisions for prior criminal convictions." **Davis v. State**, 458 So.2d 42-44 (Fla.4th DCA 1984).

A scoresheet does not reflect the timing, violent nature or escalating pattern of a defendant's record, and nothing in Rule 3.701 or this Court's decision in **Hendrix** prohibits their consideration for departure purposes. The guidelines <u>do</u> however preserve the trial judge's discretionary power to impose a sentence outside the presumptive sentence and within the statutory maximum where the circumstances are clearly stated, have not previously been factored, and demand departure.

#### CONCLUSION

Wherefore, Respondent submits that the decision in Williams v. State, supra, be affirmed as being a proper application of the sentencing guidelines and as being in harmony with Hendrix v. State, supra.